



# Physical Intervention and Restraint Policy

	Name	Signature	Date
Prepared by:	Sam Drake	San Jook	18.11.23
Checked and Reviewed by:	Governing Body		
Approved by:	Name: Madhavan Raman (Chair)	Madhan Com	28.11.23
Document Title:	Physical Intervention and Restraint Policy		

# **CONTENTS**

		Page no:	
1	Introduction and purpose		2
2	Legal framework		2
3	Senior leadership responsibilities		3
4	Physical intervention and use of force		4
5	Vulnerable pupils		5
6	Planning and prevention		7
7	Dealing with incidents		9
8	Following incidents		10
9	Training for staff		12
10	Publicising the policy		13
11	Complaints and allegations		13

## 1 Introduction and purpose of policy

On rare occasions, school staff may need to use physical intervention or restraint in order to safeguard pupils or maintain discipline within the school environment. *Keeping children safe in education* recognises that there are circumstances where it is appropriate for staff to use reasonable force to achieve these aims and states that schools should **not** have a no contact policy as this can put staff and pupils at risk.

This guidance has been written to help schools develop policies around the use of physical intervention and restraint so that any interventions used are lawful and carried out in a safe and responsible manner. The aim of any policy is to ensure staff are confident about the context in which they have the power to use physical intervention and restraint in order to safeguard pupil welfare.

#### Camden's core statement

Physical intervention and restraint on pupils should only be used as a last resort, normally when de-escalation strategies have failed, and when there is a clear risk of serious harm to the pupil or others or serious damage to property or to deal with serious classroom disruption.

Decisions on when to use physical intervention is a matter of professional judgement and any intervention or restraint should be proportionate and reasonable in the context of the perceived risk and in the pupil's best interests. This would normally be after de-escalation strategies have failed. Should such an intervention be required the school should record the details, including any injury, and contact the parent/carer on the same day to explain the circumstances involved.

## 2 Legal framework

Section 93 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 allows members of the school's staff to **use reasonable force** in order to:

- prevent a pupil from hurting themselves or others
- prevent a pupil from causing serious damage to property
- remove a disruptive pupil from a classroom
- prevent a pupil from leaving a classroom where there is a risk to their safety or the safety of others.

Statutory guidance makes it clear that physical intervention and restraint cannot be used as a punishment.

Section 550ZB of the Education Act 1996 allows schools to **use reasonable force to carry out searches** for prohibited items where the young person has not consented to the search. Prohibited items are:

- knives and weapons
- alcohol
- illegal drugs
- tobacco and cigarette papers
- fireworks
- pornographic images
- any article that has been or likely to be used to commit an offence, cause personal injury or damage property.

When conducting searches, schools/colleges should refer to the *Screening and* searches guidance available at: <a href="Schools-screening-and-searching-guidance-002.pdf">Schools-screening-and-searching-guidance-002.pdf</a> (cscp.org.uk)

Schools can also refer to the following government guidance for further details:

- Use of reasonable force in schools https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-reasonable-force-in-schools
- Searching, screening and confiscation in schools https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/searching-screening-and-confiscation

## 3 Senior leadership responsibilities

Senior leaders in schools, including governors and head teachers, should ensure the following:

- There is a culture of respect and good relationships between staff and pupils so that the need for high-level intervention is reduced.
- All staff are aware of the school policy and their powers and responsibilities regarding the use of physical intervention and restraint and their part in implementing this policy.
- Staff are able to use de-escalation techniques strategies in the first instance unless the situation requires an immediate physical response.
- All staff receive appropriate training in behaviour management, including deescalation techniques so that they are confident to deal with incidents and only use physical intervention where necessary.

- Schools may wish to consider whether certain staff members should receive specialist training on physical intervention and restraint techniques.
- The school will assess any risk posed to staff and take steps to reduce these risks. Staff do not place themselves at risk when using physical restraint and are able to access medical treatment and take time off if injured.
- The use of physical intervention and restraint is part of an overarching strategy of behaviour management within the school environment and that its use is closely aligned to the school's behaviour policies.
- Staff are aware of any agreed adjustments to the policy and procedures that are in place for individual pupils who are vulnerable due to learning and other disabilities, autism or mental health difficulties (see section 5).
- Staff are supported to use physical intervention and restraint where this is within acceptable parameters and in line with school policies.
- Support is offered to pupils and staff involved in incidents requiring physical intervention and restraint.
- There is a system in place to record and monitor incidents where physical intervention or restraint have been used.
- The policy on physical intervention and restraint is reviewed at least annually and more frequently where thought appropriate.

# 4 Physical intervention and use of force

To ensure the welfare of pupils and protect staff from any misplaced allegations, any physical contact between staff and pupils must be appropriate within the context of the teacher/pupil relationship, the pupils' age and the circumstances. There are many examples of appropriate positive physical contact that can be used to reassure, comfort, guide or calm a pupil, such as holding hands.

Physical intervention can cover a wide variety of contact with pupils of varying degrees of intrusiveness ranging from positive handling, such as gentle guiding to physical restraint. The level of intervention used and the degree of force required will be determined by the circumstances and the level of assessed risk to the pupil and others.

Generally, low-level physical contact/positive handling can be used to manage most behaviour, for example gentle contact to comfort, reassure or guide a pupil away from risk or block their movements.

For younger pupils, this positive handling can be used to control the child's movements in order to keep them from harm or danger. The level of contact and force that would be acceptable to achieve this would be similar to the actions that a reasonable parent would do to keep their own child safe.

In some situations, it may be necessary to use a physical intervention that involves restraint and the use of force. Where force is used, it must be a proportionate and reasonable response to the risk involved and decisions to use force must be based on a full risk assessment.

Reasonable force should involve "no more force than is needed" and should only be used for the purposes of restraining or controlling a pupil in order to safeguard pupils, stop damage to property or keep order in the classroom. What is reasonable force will be down to the professional judgement of the staff member but any use of force must be justifiable and the paramount consideration is that any action is taken in the interests of the pupil.

## 5 Vulnerable pupils

Some pupils may exhibit challenging behaviour in response to overstimulating environments, stressful situations or an inability to communicate distress in any other way. This can make them more vulnerable to experiencing physical intervention and restraint and it is likely the experience will be traumatising.

Schools should be mindful of pupils that may be vulnerable such as (but not limited to):

- children who have learning and other disabilities and autism
- children who are experiencing mental health difficulties
- children who have experienced trauma in their lives, for example, looked after children, refugee children and unaccompanied minors, children living with domestic abuse and children with child protection plans.

Under the Equalities Act 2010, it is essential that schools can demonstrate that reasonable adjustments have been made to ensure any policy on physical intervention and restraint does not disadvantage these pupils.

Government guidance Reducing the need for restraint and restrictive intervention also requires schools to take steps to reduce the use of physical intervention for vulnerable children and this will be a feature of any inspection carried out by the CQC and Ofsted

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-the-need-for-restraint-and-restrictive-intervention

Special schools where pupils have a high level of needs requiring regular physical intervention to manage behaviour may wish to consider use of a bespoke policy that takes account of the specific needs of the pupils using this guidance.

Schools must demonstrate that the specific needs of these pupils have been considered and that the school will tailor their approach accordingly to avoid discrimination against these pupils.

School policies on behaviour management should uphold the rights of vulnerable pupils, ensure their safety and dignity, and work in partnership with parents to reduce the need for physical intervention and restraint.

Vulnerable pupils will be subject to the requirements set out in this policy, but schools will also need to meet the following extra requirements.

- Vulnerable pupils whose behaviour is likely to increase the risk of physical intervention and restraint should have a behaviour support plan in place from the outset and pupils and parents should be fully involved in agreeing this plan. However, it should be noted that not all vulnerable pupils will require this.
- The plan should set out the strategies for managing challenging behaviour and should include a hierarchical response ranging from prevention, deescalation and detailing how incidents will be dealt with.
- The plan should be based on an assessment of the pupil's particular needs and how these contribute to challenging behaviour, including any triggers for challenging behaviour and what steps can be taken to avoid these triggers and maintain a positive learning environment for the pupil.
- The plan should include any techniques for de-escalating situations and how best to manage challenging behaviour in order to avoid use of physical intervention and restraint.

- Forms of restraint or intervention to be used should be identified and agreed in advance and the circumstances for its use set out clearly so that pupils and parents understand the circumstances in which it will be used.
- The plan should include which staff members will be responsible for its implementation and what specific training they will receive to support them in this role.
- Behaviour support plans should also cover any transitions that a pupil may experience between services or locations as movement to unfamiliar places may be a trigger for challenging behaviour.
- Schools using forms of physical intervention involving seclusion or withdrawal
  that potentially restricts a child's liberty should have written rules about how
  and when these measures will be used and should ensure parents and pupils
  consent in advance to their use.

## 6 Planning and prevention

#### 6.1 Whole school

Schools should be alert to situations and circumstances that can lead to incidents that may require physical intervention and take active steps to avoid issues escalating.

The school should regularly review environmental factors within the school that may lead to incidents in the school or elsewhere and should consider:

- the general school environment and any potential hot-spots
- any difficulties that may arise at different times of the day, ie: breaks
- any issues around supervision of pupils
- specific environmental factors for vulnerable pupils
- specific risks related to gender, race, ethnicity, sexuality or disability
- specific risks related to gang activity
- specific risks off-site/school trips.

#### This should address:

- the nature of the risk and likely impact on pupils
- the likelihood of incidents
- actions and/or reasonable adjustments for vulnerable pupils
- actions to be taken to avoid incidents and reduce risk

 actions to be taken in the event of an incident in order to reduce risk to staff and pupils.

## 6.2 Individual pupils

All vulnerable pupils' who are at heightened risk of experiencing physical intervention and restraint should have an individual behaviour support plan (see section 5).

Any pupil who requires physical intervention on 2 or more occasions should have an individual plan that looks at their specific circumstances, any triggers to behaviours and strategies or approaches that may reduce the number of incidents and which should be regularly reviewed.

Where it is known that physical intervention involving force or restraint may be required in order to manage an individual pupil's behaviour this should be planned for in partnership with parents and the pupil (where appropriate) and an intervention plan put in place.

The risk assessment should consider:

- the risks to the pupil and others from their behaviour
- the risks from use of physical intervention
- the risks from not intervening
- the form of physical intervention that would be the least restrictive.

#### The plan should:

- identify the triggers to the behaviour that may lead to the need to intervene or restrain
- relevant background information, such as experiences of home life or history of abuse
- detail any de-escalation techniques that should be used in the first instance to deal with incidents
- set out what forms of physical intervention and restraint may be used without injury to the pupil, staff member or anyone else present
- provide details of how incidents will be reviewed and who will be involved in the review.

Planned intervention can be viewed as positive as it demonstrates a commitment to keeping children safe and enables them to take part in the planning process.

## 7 Dealing with incidents

#### 7.1 Initial consideration

Before any action is taken staff should quickly weigh up the situation and decide if intervention is needed immediately to avert risk of harm. It is for the staff member to make a professional judgement on whether the situation requires the use of physical intervention and the degree of force needed.

The staff member must be clear on the justification of the action and the intended outcome of intervention, for example stopping a young child from leaving the classroom to stopping an older pupil from attacking another pupil, and how the intervention is in the best interests of those involved. This could be important in terms of providing a defence to any allegation of assault arising following the incident.

Staff should also consider the risks of not intervening, for example if no intervention is made and the pupil causes serious injury to another, the school could be considered negligent in the duty of care owed to that pupil.

#### 7.2 De-escalation

De-escalation techniques if possible must be used in the first instance and staff should:

- make the pupil and others present aware that the staff member is taking control of the situation;
- ask other pupils to leave in order to calm the situation;
- send for assistance from another staff member (particularly if restraint is likely to be needed);
- remain calm and respectful and speak slowly and clearly to the pupil to give reassurance and instructions;
- be aware of their tone of voice and body language;
- where possible, use minimal force/positive handling to gently guide the pupil away from danger (but be aware of risk to self);
- be aware of their own emotions and avoid allowing the situation to spiral;
- if the pupil is pacing, try to remain still and avoid mirroring their anxiety;
- keep a respectful distance and avoid encroaching on the pupil's personal space
- give the young person options so that they have an opportunity to resolve the situation in a dignified manner
- be specific to a pupil's SEND.

De-escalation techniques can be used where there is an opportunity to do so but not in a situation where a pupil is already at risk of harm and action is needed. However staff can continue to use many of the techniques listed above during restraint to calm and reassure the young person.

#### 7.3 Use of force and restraint

All staff have a duty of care to pupils and have the power to use physical intervention and restraint where required. However staff can send for help if it is thought that assistance will be needed.

Use of force must be reasonable, proportionate and necessary and restraint should only be used for as long as is needed and.

- Ideally, staff should not have to deal with incidents requiring restraint alone for any period of time and it is recommended that other staff attend the incident as soon as possible in order to reduce risk.
- Where possible, before intervening, staff should warn the pupil clearly and calmly that physical force may be used to restrain them and they should be given an opportunity to comply with any instructions to avoid this.
- When using restraint, staff should remain calm and continue to talk to the pupil calmly throughout in order to reassure them and let them know what is happening and why.
- The restraint should:
  - o only involve the minimum of force necessary to restrict movement
  - o only be used temporarily until the risk has passed
  - o should not restrict breathing or blood supply
  - should avoid bringing pupil to the ground
  - should not involve any contact that may be amount to a criminal offence such as assault.
- The child or young person should be released slowly and safely when it is felt they are sufficiently in control of their emotions.

### 8 Following incidents

#### 8.1 Recording and reporting incidents

Serious incidents involving use of force should be recorded and the record should be written up within 24 hours of the incident and should cover:

- time/date of incident
- staff and pupils involved
- events leading up to the incident
- reason for use of physical intervention/restraint
- nature of physical intervention/restraint including degree of force and duration
- outcome of incident, including any injuries sustained.

### 8.2 Notifying others

- The head teacher must be informed of all incidents immediately in order to decide on what further actions are required.
- The designated safeguarding lead should also be informed of incidents that may raise any safeguarding issues.
- It is good practice for schools to inform parents following serious incidents involving the use of force to physically intervene or restrain a pupil and this decision should be made by the head teacher. Parents should be informed by telephone, text or email immediately after the incident and a written notification giving details of the incident sent within a reasonable timeframe.
- Parents of vulnerable pupils should always be notified when physical intervention and restraint has been used.
- Head teachers and the head of Pupil Referral Units should include a report on the use of physical intervention and restraint as part of their annual report to the Board of Governors of Management Committee.
- In settings where the use of physical intervention and restraint is a regular feature due to pupils' individual needs the setting should have in place a system for recording, analysing and reporting incidents. This can be particularly helpful during Ofsted inspections and where an allegation or complaint is made.

## 8.3 Support following incidents

It should be acknowledged that the use of physical intervention and restraint carries an inherent risk of injury to staff and pupils involved.

Use of physical intervention and restraint can be upsetting for pupils and staff and schools should have procedures in place for dealing with the aftermath of incidents so that those involved have time and space to recover and reflect on what happened so that this learning can be used to review and improve policies.

It may be necessary to ensure staff and pupils receive any required medical attention and are able to talk to someone who was not involved in the incident about what happened and why.

For vulnerable pupils, staff and parents, where possible, should be able to discuss the incident and consider whether the behaviour support plan needs to be changed and what learning can be taken from the incident.

#### 8.4 Monitoring and reviewing incidents

Schools should monitor and review the use of force, physical intervention and restraint as a means of learning from incidents to improve practice and inform risk assessments in order to avoid the need for physical intervention and restraint. Information on incidents can help inform any risk assessment both on a whole-school level and in terms of individual or groups of pupils. This is particularly important in the case of vulnerable pupils who may be more susceptible to experiencing physical intervention and restraint.

When reviewing incidents, the school should consider the following:

- Was the use of physical intervention necessary, appropriate and proportionate?
- What steps were taken to ensure that minimum reasonable force was used?
- Have the incidents needing physical intervention increased/decreased?
- Are vulnerable pupils over-represented in the numbers and if so why? Is the school confident that vulnerable pupils are not being discriminated against by policy and procedures?
- Was the length of time physical intervention was used kept to a minimum?
- Could alternative methods other than physical intervention been used?
- What steps were taken to ensure that physical intervention used causes a minimum of pain or distress?
- What steps were taken following physical intervention for the pupil and the staff involved?
- Were there separate debriefing sessions for both pupil and members of staff who have been involved in the intervention? What were the antecedents, consequences and alternative courses of action?

# 9 Training for staff

Training from a relevant trainer increases staff confidence in dealing with incidents and reduces risks. Camden recommends schools use the Team-Teach training available from Camden Learning.

When considering training, schools should be aware that any member of staff may need to intervene in emergency situations. Schools may consider training in the context of the needs of pupils and the number and seriousness of incidents that are likely to occur in the school.

- All staff should receive training on how to prevent the need for physical intervention, including how to de-escalate situations and awareness of positive handling techniques.
- Schools should identify the most appropriate members of staff for specialist training in restraint techniques.
- Schools should keep a record of which training staff have received and those staff who have received specialist training in restraint techniques.
- Some settings such as special educational needs or pupil referral units may have a
  higher level of incidents requiring a higher proportion of staff to receive specialist
  training on positive handling techniques. Where settings have a regular need to use
  physical intervention and restraint it is recommended that all staff should be trained.

## 10 Publicising the policy

It is recommended that the school policy on physical intervention and restraint is part of the behaviour management policy and that the Camden core statement shown on page 1 is widely available to staff, pupils and parents so that they are aware of the policy.

The Camden core statement and any behaviour management policies should be available on the school website. It is important that pupils and parents are aware of the school's legal powers to use physical intervention and restraint and the circumstances in which it is likely to be used.

Parents should be made aware that their consent is not required to use physical intervention and restraint. Parents should also be aware of how the school will inform them of any incidents requiring the use of physical intervention and restraint.

# 11 Complaints and allegations

Schools should publish the complaints policy and ensure pupils and parents know how to make a complaint following the use of physical intervention or restraint.

The use of force to physically intervene or restrain a child can lead to accusations against staff by pupils and parents of improper conduct or assault, so it is essential that schools have in place clear policies and procedures around the use of physical

intervention and restraint so that staff have a defence against such allegations.

Where an incident of physical intervention or restraint leads to an allegation being made against a teacher, this will be dealt with under the CSCP "Guidance for schools on managing allegations against staff and volunteers" and the matter will be referred to the LADO. Introduction (cscp.org.uk)

This guidance makes it clear that reasonable force can be used to control or restrain in specific circumstances and this will be taken into account when deciding on what action to take. However, it must be demonstrated that the staff member followed agreed practice and procedure.

It should be made clear to staff that force may only be used within the parameters set out in the school's policy and that any deviation from acceptable practice will leave the staff member vulnerable to complaints and allegations.